
 

 
1 
 

 
 

Notice of a meeting of 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 
Monday, 7 September 2020 

6.00 pm 
Virtual WEBEX video conference via YouTube - 

https://www.youtube.com/user/cheltenhamborough 
 

Membership 

Councillors: Chris Mason (Chair), Klara Sudbury (Vice-Chair), Sandra Holliday, 
John Payne, Paul Baker, Max Wilkinson, Dilys Barrell, Iain Dobie and 
Jo Stafford 

The Council has a substitution process and any substitutions will be announced at the 
meeting 

 

Agenda  
 

    

1.    APOLOGIES  
    

2.    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
    

3.    MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 
27 July 2020 

(Pages 
3 - 12) 

    

4.    PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS, CALLS FOR 
ACTIONS AND PETITIONS 

 

    
5.    MATTERS REFERRED TO COMMITTEE  

    
6.   6.10pm AIR QUALITY / SCHOOLS 

Gareth Jones, Senior Environmental Health Officer 
(Pages 
13 - 16) 

    

7.   6.30pm CLEARVIEW 
A live demonstration of how Clearview works and how it will 
enable the committee ro monitor progress on various 
aspects of Council business  

 

    

8.  6.50pm  SCRUTINY REVIEW TASK GROUP - ONE PAGE 
STRATEGY 
Agree the ambitions and outcomes for the review 

(Pages 
17 - 18) 

    

9.   7.00pm CABINET BRIEFING 
A verbal update from the Cabinet on key issues for Cabinet 

 



    

 
2 
 

Members which may be of interest to Overview and Scrutiny 
and may inform the O&S work plan 

    

10.    REVIEW OF SCRUTINY WORKPLAN (Pages 
19 - 24) 

    
11.    LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXEMPT 

INFORMATION 
The committee is recommended to approve the 
following resolution:- 
 

“That in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local 
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the 
meeting for the remaining agenda items as it is likely that, in 
view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the 
nature of the proceedings, if members of the public are 
present there will be disclosed to them exempt information 
as defined in paragraph 3, Part (1) Schedule (12A) Local 
Government Act 1972, namely: 

 
Paragraph 3; Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information) 

 

    

12.    EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 
27 July 2020 

(Pages 
25 - 28) 

    
13.    DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

02 November 2020 
 

    
 

Contact Officer:  Saira Malin, Democracy Officer, 01242 264129 
Email: democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk 

mailto:democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk


 
 
 
 

 
- 1 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 7 September 2020. 

 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 

Monday, 27th July, 2020 

5.30 - 8.45 pm 
 

Attendees 

Councillors: Klara Sudbury (Vice-Chair), Sandra Holliday, John Payne, 
Max Wilkinson, Dilys Barrell, Iain Dobie, Jo Stafford and 
Tim Harman (Reserve) 

Also in attendance:  Tim Atkins (Managing Director of Place and Growth), Dave 
Brooks (Chairman of the Board at Publica), Jan Britton, 
(Managing Director), Councillor Flo Clucas (Cabinet Member 
Healthy Lifestyles), Jamie Fox (Programme Consultant), Simon 
Hodges (Estates Surveyor), Councillor Horwood (rep on HOSC), 
Paul Jones (Director of Finance and Assets), Councillor Steve 
Jordan (Leader), Darren Knight (Director of People and Change - 
CBC), Gill Morris (Client Officer – CBC)Bill Oddy (Group 
Manager - Publica) and Phil Martin (Group Manager – Business 
Support Services) 

 
 

Minutes 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES 
Councillors Mason and Baker had given their apologies.  The vice-chair would 
take the chair and Councillor Harman substituted for Councillor Mason.   
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Councillor Holliday declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 6 (Annual 
review of Publica) as a relative worked for Publica.   
 

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 
The minutes of the last meeting had been circulated with the agenda.  
 
It was noted that a sentence was missing from item 11 of the minutes (Cabinet 
Briefing) and the reference to the Local Transport Plan (LTP).  A suitable 
summary of the response would be added after the meeting, if members were 
happy for the chair to sign them as an accurate record.   
 
Upon a vote it was unanimously  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on the 24 February 2020, 
as amended, be agreed and signed as an accurate record.  
 

4. PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS, CALLS FOR ACTIONS AND 
PETITIONS 
None had been received.  
 

5. MATTERS REFERRED TO COMMITTEE 

Page 3
Agenda Item 3



 
 
 

 

 
- 2 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 7 September 2020. 

 

No matters were referred to the committee.  
 

6. PUBLICANNUAL REVIEW OF PUBLICA 
The Chair introduced Dave Brooks (Chairman of the Board at Publica), Jan 
Britton, (Managing Director), Bill Oddy (Group Manager - Publica) and Phil 
Martin (Group Manager – Business Support Services).  
 
Dave Brooks thanked the committee for the opportunity to present another year 
of performance.  He reminded members that Publica was established in 2017, 
to deliver IT, finance and HR and in that time had generated savings of circa 
£3m for the four shareholder councils; twice the level set out in the original 
business plan.  Publica were now looking to evolve to meet the changing 
expectations and service requirements of the four councils and their residents 
and felt that the ‘2020-22 Business Plan’ encapsulated how Publica would do 
this.  He acknowledged that the last four months had been challenging but felt 
that Publica had worked well, fundamentally because of the shared service 
model that was in place.   
 
Jan Britton voiced his frustration that the plan had been agreed and then almost 
immediately the Covid-19 pandemic hit, but he felt that Publica had coped well 
and been able to provide support which aided the response of the partner 
councils.  This had undoubtedly caused delay to the delivery of the plan to drive 
progress and build on performance, but he was confident that they could 
achieve what they had set out to.  
 
The group gave the following responses to member questions:  
 

 It was suggested by a member that political awareness was a 
fundamental requirement of a local authority company and yet a 
significant finding of the SWOT Analysis was that there was a limited 
political awareness and understanding across Publica.  Publica 
suggested that it was less about political awareness and more to do with 
awareness of the political environment and how to work effectively with 
Councillors.  Members were assured that employee training had already 
taken place and importantly staff had started to talk more regularly and 
effectively with Councillors.  This was not to say that they had done all 
they needed to do, but progress had been made and whilst Covid was 
clearly a terrible development, it had allowed Publica to nurture these 
relationships as it responded to demand.   
 

 How did Publica prioritise the needs of four competing councils? Publica 
was non-political and independent, delivering shared services across the 
four shareholder councils, but it delivered these services in a way in 
which each council wanted, in order that they could retain their 
independent identities. Balancing these different demands was 
undoubtedly a challenge but they often emerged at different times for 
each council, allowing Publica to divert resources as required.  One 
thing that Publica were slow to understand as quickly as they should 
have, was the diminished appetite from the shareholder councils to 
make Publica more commercial, by delivering services for other 
organisations, as their focus shifted to other priorities such as climate 
change.  Publica would be surprised if local government restructuring 
and localisation was not on every councils risk register, but assured 

Page 4



 
 
 

 

 
- 3 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 7 September 2020. 

 

members that Publica would continue to provide support where 
necessary and that this issue would not cloud their primary focus on 
delivering good services, on a daily basis.   

 

 The report, at 3.11 stated that based on the data Publica was delivering 
high performing services, but the feedback at 3.8 didn’t seem to support 
this statement and there was a complete lack of narrative around 
specific services, were Public sure that they were collecting sufficient 
data.  Publica highlighted that the report had been drafted prior to 
lockdown and that this period had not been reported on.  It was 
acknowledged that performance data was weak and was a measure of 
CBC provision rather than any other Cheltenham clients.  Publica were 
working with Gill Morris, Client Officer for CBC, to work on the indicator 
matrix and would ensure that a wider set of performance indicators and 
appropriate narrative would be included in future reports.  What was 
important to note was that Publica were delivering on all of the targets 
set by CBC.    

 

 The staff survey was the first of its kind to be carried out by Publica and 
they had intended to repeat it but this had been delayed due to 
lockdown.   

 

 What work did Publica undertake for Cheltenham clients, as there was 
no reference to any of these in the report?  Publica provided a range of 
service provision to three Cheltenham based clients: CBH, Ubico and 
the Trust.   

 

 The weaknesses flagged in the SWOT relating to Directors and their 
lack of focus on strategic issues and the criticism from the LGA was 
worrying.  Public advised that a report had bene taken to the Executive 
Directors back in December and members were assured that they were 
now clear on what the Managing Director expected of them, as well as 
giving much more focus to strategic issues.  If this report had been 
written now it was likely that a significant progress would have been 
reported and it was suggested that this report represented a line drawn 
in the sand some 6/7 months ago.  The member followed-up with a 
query as to why Publica were presenting such out of date information 
and suggested that they should have redrafted the report or provided an 
update.   

 
Darren Knight, Commissioning Officer and Gill Morris, as Client Officer were 
invited to give their views from the client perspective.   
 
Gill Morris explained that as Client Officer she tended to deal with operational 
level matters and was in regular contact with Libby Butler, the Client Manager at 
Publica, who was very helpful.  She accepted that the performance data within 
the report was somewhat historical at this point and assured members that 
operationally performance had improved over the last year, with Publica proving 
to be much more responsive to CBCs needs and she described the support that 
had been provided throughout lockdown had been exceptional.   
 
Darren Knight, as Commissioning Lead started by welcoming Jan Britton’s 
direct involvement in procurement which he felt would result in a more holistic 

Page 5



 
 
 

 

 
- 4 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 7 September 2020. 

 

approach.  In terms of improvements he hoped to see over the coming year, 
one was that the Board maintain a focus on all shareholder councils and; the 
other was greater transparency in terms of costs.  He took the opportunity to 
thank Publica at an operational level for the support that they had provided over 
the last few months which had enable CBC to be as responsive as it had.  
Members joined Darren in thanking Publica, particularly ICT for their support 
during lockdown.  
 
The Chair thanked Publica for their attendance and advised that she and the 
other lead members would discuss whether they felt it necessary to hear from 
Publica again, before the 2021 performance review and update the work plan 
as necessary.  
 

7. GOLDEN VALLEY, WEST CHELTENHAM- IMPACT OF COVID ON THE 
PROJECT 
The Chair welcomed Tim Atkins, Managing Director of Place and Growth and 
Jamie Fox, Programme Consultant.  
 
Tim Atkins reminded members that the Council sought to deliver the 
development of 45 hectares of land which was acquired in August 2019 and 
represented a programme which had gathered pace.  He had been asked to 
update the committee on the impact of Covid-19 on the procurement process, 
the programme and the assessments which had informed these processes.   
 
Jamie Fox explained that the procurement of a development/investment partner 
was due to be launched, in March at Mipim, the world’s leading real estate 
market event.  The proposed launch to attract investor/development partners 
included a ministerial introduction supported by the Department of International 
Trade (DIT).  Unfortunately, due to Covid-19, this process plan had to be 
reviewed and in April 2020, four options were considered in relation to the 
procurement of a future development/investment partner:  
 

 Option 1 – Continue procurement as proposed in original 
timetable 

 Option 2 – Continue procurement allowing for new timetable 

 Option 3 – Defer procurement 

 Option 4 – Alternative procurement structure 
 

It was agreed that that the authority should continue with the competitive 
dialogue approach approved by Cabinet in March 2020, so as not to lose the 
momentum and excitement already generated in the wider 
development/investment market, however should allow for a new timetable to 
be considered taking account of potential delays from Covid-19 (option 2 
above).  Pursuing this option further demonstrated the confidence the Council 
had in achieving their vision and delivering their objectives of enhancing 
Cheltenham as the UK’s Capital of Cyber.   

The Council formally launched its search for a development partner on the 11 
May and given Covid-19, attention was focussed on marketing online and 
utilising social media platforms to support the launch.  In addition a number of 
presentations were made to DITs international colleagues across the global 
regions.  Around 120 enquiries were made, resulting in 11 formal expressions of 
interest being received.  These submissions were in the process of being 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
- 5 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 7 September 2020. 

 

reviewed and a maximum of 6 would be invited to submit outline tender 
solutions, before being shortlisted to 3 in late 2020, with the preferred party 
being chosen spring 2021.   

Tim Atkins stressed that this process would be subject to stringent internal 
gateway reviews by the Project Board, Executive Leadership Team and Cabinet 
Member, as well as more widely with Tewkesbury Borough and Gloucestershire 
County Council.  There were clearly a number of factors at play, with key issues 
such as Junction 10 yet to be finalised; but the UK ambition to become the 
global leader in terms of cyber meant that Cheltenham ticked a lot of boxes.  
Generating more Government interest was undoubtedly possible but allocating 
resources to this end, at a time when CBC was under such financial pressure 
meant the ability to do this was limited.   

The Managing Director of Place and Growth and Programme Consultant gave 
the following answers to member questions:  

 For commercial reasons, it would not be possible to announce details of 
any development partners until the preferred bidder was announced.  

 There was a question over whether a green recovery was deliverable.  
The green ambitions of this council and those of Gloucestershire County 
Council were set out in the procurement document, as well as in the 
Supplementary Planning Document which was agreed by Council, but 
this set the bar high and could impact the financial viability of any future 
development proposal.  CBC would strive to achieve as much as was 
possible and he was confident that the outcome would still be a good 
one in terms of green credentials.   

 The Minster Project demonstrated the huge demand for low carbon 
modular construction and innovative co-working space and would result 
in a different working environment/proposition to existing commercial 
properties in Cheltenham and feedback from the market suggested that 
there was indeed a market for it.   

 There was no doubt that CBC needed to take existing communities with 
them on this journey, not least because the areas being discussed were 
adjacent to some of the highest levels of deprivation in the town.  
Members would be aware that the plan had been to appoint new 
personnel to undertake a community role but given the financial 
pressure that CBC now found itself under, due to Covid-19, resource for 
this would have to be reconsidered.   

 £22m of funding had been secured from the Local Enterprise 
Partnership for improved transport and infrastructure links; colleagues at 
GCC were increasingly supportive of this focus.  Junction 10 and the 
Arle Court park and ride improvements was positive news for 
Cheltenham but CBC was clear that it did not want a car based scheme 
at Golden Valley.  The competitive dialogue route allowed CBC to have 
discussions with bidders and ask searching questions regarding 
sustainability and transport.  In relation to the proposed form of 
development and impact of Covid, it was important to note that Golden 
Valley would be a 10 -15 year programme, which would therefore also 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
- 6 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 7 September 2020. 

 

be faced with different economic cycles which ultimately could impact 
the composition of any development.   

 The relationship between CBC and GCHQ had developed over many 
years.  GCHQ were looking at moving some elements of what they do to 
Manchester, but a lot of what was being done in Manchester was less to 
do with cyber and therefore not the sector Cheltenham was focussing 
on.   

 Covid-19 could result in more office accommodation being available, 
with lower rents, but many of these spaces were and would continue to 
be unsuitable for those operating in the cyber industry.  Cheltenham 
looked to become the cyber capital, as the UK sought to become a 
cyber nation and this required a lot of scaling up.  That was the vision 
which Golden Valley proposed to achieve.   

 In terms of unit numbers, the JCS had used a basic multiplier to arrive at 
the figure of 1100 residential properties, but further, more in-depth 
analysis of the site (through the recently adopted SPD) has resulted in a 
potential increase in unit numbers to around 2600 – but this would be 
subject of future planning application(s) and members were reminded 
that the vision for this site was high quality design, the likes of which 
were not often seen.  

 Marketing of the cyber proposals and economic facts had landed well 
and there had been a number of discussions with various people within 
Government, but lobbying campaigns required lots of resource and 
money to do well and CBC were not able to commit to this at a time 
when it was facing significant financial challenges.  Lots of channels 
were still open and anything they could do to influence the government 
would be done.  

Members agreed that this was an ambitious and exciting prospect for 
Cheltenham and commended everyone involved for the impressive, exciting 
and engaging marketing that had been done to date.   

The Chair felt that this was the most exciting thing to happen in Cheltenham in 
her lifetime, but also acknowledged the unfortunate timing of Covid.  She felt 
that the economy would ultimately determine what quality of development we 
would end up with and worried that this might make the vision undeliverable.  
She also urged development partners to be encouraged to have artists and 
creators involved at an early stage to ensure that any public art was more than 
simply an afterthought, which she felt would be a missed opportunity.  Officers 
were asked to come back at relevant stages of the programme to keep 
members informed of progress and Jamie Fox would liaise with Democratic 
Services on timescales.  

8. COUNCIL INVESTMENTS 
Paul Jones, the Director of Finance and Assets and Simon Hodges, the Estates 
Surveyor had agreed to come along and answer any questions members had in 
terms of council investments.  Paul Jones explained that this was specifically 
linked to media coverage surrounding council finances.  He advised members 
that the council’s commercial investments were less of a worry to CBC than the 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
- 7 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 7 September 2020. 

 

loss of parking income, simply because unlike some neighbouring authorities, 
CBC had a more diverse investment portfolio.  Simon Hodges confirmed that 
his team had granted rent deferment plans ranging from 1-3 months, with the 
balance spread over the rest of the lease terms or next rent review whichever 
came first and some tenants had opted to pay in arrears.  There were two 
tenants refusing to pay rent, one had written to CBC prior to lockdown to 
request a 50% reduction in rent and since lockdown had refused to pay any at 
all.  Another had not paid rent since lockdown and had approached the 
Government to ask for a 9 month rent break, which it had not agreed.  This 
tenant had since written to CBC asking for a rent waiver, looking to pay only 20-
30% based on their trade figures of the previous year.  The Coronavirus Act, 
2020, protected tenants from eviction until the 30 June initially, though this was 
then extended to the 30 September and could well be further extended.  Paul 
Jones noted that the two tenants refusing to pay rent were not at the highest 
level of rent the council charged and assured members that the issue had been 
approached in the same way for each tenant.  He hoped that this gave 
members reassurance that this council was not in the same position as some 
other authorities who faced huge exposure to the retail sector.   
 
In response to a member question the Director of Finance and Assets advised 
that the council were risk aware and not risk averse and approached all asset 
purchases with a plan A, B and C.  He reminded members that Cheltenham had 
lost 250k square feet of office space to residential developments and lack of 
supply had pushed up rents.  CBC had stepped in the rebalance the levels of 
supply and demand, but there was always the option to apply for a change of 
use and it would be likely to any application would be to likely be for housing to 
meet demand in that area.  Also, it was worth noting that whilst Sainsbury’s was 
performing well through the pandemic, if anything changed, the site was 5 acres 
and as part of the acquisition the ability to build housing on this site had been 
discussed.   
 
Members thanked the officers for their honest appraisal of the council’s position 
and commended the prudent investments that had been made, in Cheltenham, 
for the benefit of Cheltenham.  
 

9. FEEDBACK FROM OTHER SCRUTINY MEETINGS ATTENDED 
The Chair referred members to the updates which had been circulated in 
advance of the meeting and asked that they contact the relevant member 
representatives with any questions in relation to the Police and Crime Panel and 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth O&S Committee. 
 
She welcomed Councillor Horwood and invited him to add to the written update 
on the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) that was circulated to 
members.  Councillor Horwood highlighted that Councillor Willingham had 
asked a question at this meeting, as a member of the public, relating to the high 
death rate from Covid-19 in Alstone and St. Mark’s, which was 32 in three 
months.  He asked that the HOSC investigate what had contributed to this, 
including the possibility that it was related to the large number of care homes in 
the area.  It was highlighted that Public Health England did not share data with 
local Public Health teams which limited their ability to respond effectively to 
local outbreaks, which had obvious implications on the effectiveness of any 
track and trace process. He suggested that he and Councillor Willingham could 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
- 8 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 7 September 2020. 

 

write, formally, to Public Health England on this subject and the committee 
agreed, but also felt that the HOSC should be looking at this issue.    
 
The Trust had also presented the emergency service changes that were 
introduced in April and June in response to the epidemic and whilst HOSC 
accepted the need for these changes, concerns were raised by some that these 
temporary changes would then morph into permanent ones, given the Trust had 
re-launched their ‘Fit for the Future’ public consultation on urgent and 
emergency care.  Members were reassured that Cheltenham A&E would be 
restored to a Type 1 A&E but he felt that this was slightly undermined by 
several references to the benefits of centralisation unrelated to Covid.  He 
highlighted the differential between the performance of Cheltenham and 
Gloucester A&E, in terms of the four hour wait target for patients to be seen and 
either admitted or discharged, with Gloucester consistently falling below 
Cheltenham and it remained to be seen how Gloucester would cope as a single 
A&E under the temporary emergency changes.  What was clear however, was 
that Cheltenham residents were being negatively impacted by increased travel 
times and he stressed that they would be further disadvantaged if general 
surgery was permanently centralised in Gloucester.   
 
In response to member questions he gave the following responses:  
 

 The HOSC were promised a further report on attempts to resolve the 
issue of national PHE data on individual patients not being shared with 
local public health teams and he would update this committee 
accordingly.   

 The discharge of patients back to care homes was part of national 
policy, which was currently subject to a public inquiry and again, HOSC 
would hear more on this at their September meeting.  

 
Councillor Dobie volunteered to write to xxx, as the spokesperson for his group 
at Gloucestershire County Council for Adult Social Care and Public Health, and 
highlight the failures in the policy to discharge patients into care homes; as 
deaths in care homes accounted for almost half of Covid related deaths in 
Gloucestershire. The Chair requested that he also include a question about 
where patients had tested negative and were then placed in care homes where 
residents had tested positive.   
 
The committee put on record their thanks to all frontline NHS and care staff for 
their hard work and dedication curing this pandemic.    
  
The Chair reminded members that the Trust had previously committed to bring 
forward, to this council, proposals as part of their ‘Fit for the Future’ consultation 
and given the re-launch of this process, the Trust would be reminded of that 
commitment and asked to provide suitable dates.   
 
A councillor raised the issue of Cheltenham’s magistrates’ court.  The Police 
and Crime Commissioner had written to the Minister to ask for his support but 
the Minister had not yet replied.  He asked whether the Chair of this committee 
could write to the Minister and urge him to respond without delay, as he felt it 
raised fundamental issues about how the administration of justice was dealt 
with in this country.  It was agreed that this would be discussed with the Chair 
as part of the next lead member briefing.   

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
- 9 - 

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Monday, 7 September 2020. 

 

10. CABINET BRIEFING 
The Leader confirmed that the Interim Events Policy was due to be taken to 
Cabinet in March and though this had been overtaken by global events, it would 
be revisited.   
 
He advised members that he was preparing to take a decision regarding the 
future of the Economic Growth Joint Committee.  This was set-up for a six year 
period, with a requirement to provide 12 months’ notice (at the 5 year point) of 
the intention to continue or disband.  Unfortunately, the fact that this decision 
should have been taken in September 2019 appeared to have been overlooked 
and as such, he was being asked to agree to waive that notice period, allowing 
the committee to continue to operate for another 18 months.  He noted that this 
decision would be published on the council website.  He felt that this decision 
made sense given that it was tasked with looking recovery plans for all six 
councils and the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  Asked by a member if the 
meeting of the committee would be broadcast, he confirmed that it would be.   
 

11. REVIEW OF SCRUTINY WORKPLAN 
The work plan had been circulated with the agenda.   
 
The committee suggested that the Police and Crime Commissioner item should 
be removed and asked that the Air Quality clarify which authority was 
responsible for air quality, how and when.   
 
The Chair confirmed that the Lead Members would meeting to discuss and 
agree the agenda and noted her view that as a committee we should focus on 
what is important to Cheltenham and what this authority is doing, rather than 
giving too much focus to issues over which we have no power.     
 

12. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXEMPT INFORMATION 
Upon a vote it was unanimously  
 
RESOLVED that in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local Government 
Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for the remaining 
agenda items as it is likely that, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, if members of the public are 
present there will be disclosed to them exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3, Part (1) Schedule (12A) Local Government Act 1972, namely: 
 

Paragraph 3; Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 

13. THE CHELTENHAM TRUST 
The committee received an update on The Trust.  
 

14. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
The next meeting was scheduled for the 7 September 2020. 
 
 

 
Chairman 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Information/Discussion Paper 
Overview and Scrutiny – 7 September 2020 

Air Quality and Schools 

This note contains the information to keep Members informed of matters relating to the work of 
the Committee, but where no decisions from Members are needed 

 
Why has this come to Scrutiny? 
In February 2020, officers reported to O&S on Air Quality in CBC, including a requirement to 
vary the boundaries of the existing Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) from including the 
whole of the borough to a small area of High Street /Poole Way and Swindon Road.  At that 
meeting Members requested a further briefing on air quality issues affecting schools in the 
borough.  In particular members asked to be briefed on the various responsibilities which are 
divided between CBC and Gloucestershire County Council (GCC). 
 
 
Summary of Issue 
Issues of air quality in Cheltenham have significant overlap with the Council’s intention for 
the borough to be carbon neutral by 2030.  The actions taken by the council to improve air 
quality, both in the AQMA and more broadly will need to focus on lower-carbon options, 
including more walking and cycling. 
 
In England and Wales, around 2,000 schools are in areas of poor air quality.  Children are 
more vulnerable because their lungs are still developing, they breathe faster, and are closer 
to sources of pollution.  Parents may choose to drive children to school for a variety of 
reasons, but that may actually increase exposure in the vehicle and cause more pollution 
around it.  The effects of air pollution on children can be linked to poor lung function, asthma, 
more frequent infections, and in later life diabetes and cancer. 
 
Local air quality context 
The changes to the designated AQMA approved in February were delayed by lockdown, but 
have now been signed and are effective from 1st Sept.  These changes now require CBC to 
work with all relevant partners to produce a new Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) which 
although targeting action on the AQMA will include measures that benefit the entire town.  
There are no schools in the new AQMA, so there will not be a specific need to address this 
issue in this discrete area.  There are however, schools nearby the revised AQMA which are 
likely to see improved air quality as a result of the new AQAP. 
 
CBC has limited responsibility for air quality specifically around schools, and is not directly 
required to monitor pollution at schools.  The CBC remit is much wider, as we are required to 
monitor and report on air quality across the whole borough.  Despite this, some 
measurements of pollution have been, and are being, made around schools.  Pollution levels 
around schools have also been modelled as part of the 2019 Detailed Modelling Study, 
available here: 
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/7829/detailed_modelling_assessment_2019 
 
Monitoring is generally aimed at assessing exposure to air pollution in residential settings, as 
this is where most exposure occurs.  In the event that a school was in an AQMA there would 
be potential to identify parts of the AQAP that specifically deal with the school as both a 
source of pollution and the effects of that pollution. 

Page 13
Agenda Item 6

https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/7829/detailed_modelling_assessment_2019


 
Evidence from monitoring pollution levels and traffic patterns around Cheltenham suggests 
that pollution generated by the school run is a key issue in tackling AQ issues affecting the 
borough. 
 
 
Summary of Evidence / Information 
CBC holds limited data specific to schools, largely because we are not required to 
specifically measure it.  The Detailed Modelling Study used for assessing the AQMA 
boundary, which produced a NO2 level of 25.9 / 27.6 ug/m3 at two locations immediately 
adjacent to Gloucester Road School.  We have now introduced monitoring outside this 
school to both verify this model and measure current levels, although these will have been 
radically affected by the drop in traffic throughout the lockdown period, where sites have 
averaged a 40%  reduction in NO2 levels. 
 
There is only one other school where a detailed monitoring location was completed as part 
of this project, largely due to very few schools being positioned on the main roads that are 
the principal source of air pollution.  That school was Cheltenham College, where a kerbside 
level of 25.4 ug/m3 was predicted. 
 
Other sources of monitoring pollution levels around schools include monitoring carried out by 
or on behalf of GCC.  In 2017, a survey was completed that attempted to quantify the 
difference in pollution levels between in-term and half-term holidays.  This project was very 
limited in its scope and not well executed, resulting in inconclusive data.  Data may also be 
provided in planning applications, relating to specific sites.  There are also a growing number 
of private monitoring sites, sometimes being run under the umbrella of various organisations.  
These results are generally not reliable enough for legislative use, as they use uncalibrated 
equipment, which is not necessarily installed in an appropriate location. 
 
There are therefore no schools in the revised AQMA, or in areas needing further 
investigation, and levels at the schools most likely to be affected are well within the limit 
value of 40ug/m3.  We can conclude that schools in Cheltenham are not significantly 
affected by adverse air quality, however, the travel choices of parents likely make a 
significant contribution to pollution levels around schools and the wider area. 
 
This current situation should not deter us all from taking steps to try and improve both the 
impact on air quality of the school run, and the impact of any poor air quality around schools. 
 
 
Next Steps 
“No idling zones” 
Members have queried our ability to fine motorists who leave vehicles idling unnecessarily.  
There are powers in The Road Traffic (Vehicle Emissions) (Fixed Penalty) (England) 
Regulations 2002,  but they are only available for use when adopted by a council, and only 
applicable within an AQMA.  The law requires an enforcement officer (in practice usually a 
traffic warden) to warn the vehicle driver first, then issue a fixed penalty notice if there is no 
compliance.  In practice, most drivers either turn off their engine, or drive off to avoid 
enforcement.  A significant limitation of these regulations is that the penalty fee is fixed at 
£20. 
 
Very few councils have adopted these powers and the ones that have tend to be the most 
urban.  Very few penalties have been issued, making the legislation expensive to enforce.  In 
July 2019, the Department of Transport consulted on higher fines and other changes to the 
legislation.  As far as we can find, no report on this was ever produced and the legislation 
remains unchanged. 

Page 14



 
CBC also has other, less direct powers to explore which can have a beneficial effect on air 
quality: 

 Planning (for houses, schools, employment, nurseries).  Use of the planning system 
can prevent vulnerable uses from being built in areas of poor air quality, or mandate 
mitigation to reduce any harmful effect.  It can also prevent development that would 
have a detrimental effect on air quality affecting vulnerable land use (including 
schools). 

 Car parking.  CBC currently relies quite heavily on car parking income from around 
2.500 spaces when setting its balanced budget and whilst car parks do help to 
manage traffic volumes and congestion, that doesn’t help to discourage car use.  In 
the post-lockdown environment, the public has not taken back to public transport with 
much enthusiasm due to the higher perceived risk of Covid-19 transmission, so CBC 
needs to encourage walking and cycling, but may suffer financially if successful.  The 
reliance on income from car parks which helps support a range of discretionary 
services, needs detailed consideration in terms of both financial sustainability and the 
carbon neutral aspiration. Currently, there is no obvious ‘quick win’ to replace the 
level of income which car parking has historically generated, but we are looking at 
the potential for alternative uses on a number of sites and the pros and cons of these 
options, with a view to reducing the Council’s current reliance on parking income.  
 

These issues will be amongst those given full consideration in the development of the 
revised AQAP over the coming 12 months. 
 
GCC Plans with “Streets for Schools” update. 
 
CBC EHOs had a meeting with GCC Officers in February, during which Streets for Schools 
was discussed, and in particular a list was put forward of schools which might be suitable, 
either due to their location / infrastructure, or because they were thought to be more 
adversely affected by air pollution. 
 
During lockdown nothing was heard back from GCC until local media reported that their 
Cabinet had approved a trial of “Streets For Schools” at 3 locations in the county:  Warden 
Hill Primary School, Tewkesbury CofE School and Kingsholm School (Gloucester). 
 
We have now re-started discussions with their officers involved in the project, who have 
provided the following information: 
 
The GCC Cabinet approved a pilot scheme involving 3 schools, intended to commence in 
September 2020.  The schools had not previously been consulted or invited to take part.  
The scheme will close roads in the immediate vicinity of the school for 30-60 minutes during 
the morning and afternoon school run.  Closures will be enforced by a Traffic Regulation 
Order, so will be enforceable by fixed penalty notices.  As the scheme comes into effect the 
GCC Think Travel service will work with schools and parents to encourage change in how 
children travel, rather than just dropping off where the road closes.  This may include 
projects to include walking and cycling, for example a “walking bus”.  Due to the decision 
being taken just before the school holidays, and the effect of the Covid 19 closures on 
schools, GCC now doesn’t expect any of the 3 schools to be ready to start the scheme in 
September, so GCC are targeting a post half-term time frame.  The project has also been 
stalled by a lack of data relating to existing travel choices, which needs to be available in 
some detail.  In particular, although schools may know how children arrive at school, they 
don’t know whether existing car use forms part of a longer commute or is a return trip to 
home, and this has not been recorded in the past. 
 

Page 15



CBC has offered to assist GCC with the pollution monitoring element of this project, 
including managing remote equipment at sites outside the borough.  CBC has recently 
deployed a network of monitors across the borough, which offers real-time monitoring of 
various pollutants, which could be extended to 3 additional sites.  Discussions will continue 
over the upcoming weeks to determine how we can be involved in this project.  Members 
should bear in mind that this is a long-term project, and it will take at least a year to assess 
any resultant change.  
 
What can schools do themselves? 
Schools are recommended to prepare a School Travel Plan (STP).  This should encourage 
active travel choices amongst staff, parents and pupils.  The plan should actively discourage 
the use of cars on the school run, or promote car sharing where absolutely necessary.  
Schools can also actively discourage parking outside the school gates and vehicle idling.  
When managed and promoted well, schools can use such schemes as an example of 
positive community engagement, rather than being stigmatised as a “polluted” site.  CBC 
can assist with a STP where information or data is requested. 
 
 
Background Papers Information  Detailed Model, 2020 Report to DEFRA 
Contact Officer    gareth.jones@cheltenham.gov.uk  
Accountability    Cabinet Member Development and Safety 

Page 16

https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/7829/detailed_modelling_assessment_2019
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/8183/air_quality_annual_status_report_2020_%E2%80%93_subject_to_approval
mailto:gareth.jones@cheltenham.gov.uk


 

 
 
 
 

SCRUTINY REVIEW – ONE PAGE STRATEGY 

 
FOR COMPLETION BY THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Broad topic area Review of Overview and Scrutiny 

Specific topic area Campbell Tickell (CT) were commissioned to undertake a 
review of the O&S Committee.  CT have made a range of 
recommendations aimed at improving the effectiveness of the 
scrutiny function.  The O&S Committee felt that a task group 
should devise an action plan in response to the 
recommendations that have been made.  

Ambitions for the 
review 

Having considered each of the recommendations made by CT, 
a range of actions will be agreed.  

Outcomes - Consider the CT recommendations  
- Agree actions to deliver the desired outcomes  
- Propose timescales for the completion of these 

actions/outcomes 

How long should the 
review take? 

TBC 

Recommendations to 
be reported to: 

Overview and Scrutiny 

FOR COMPLETION BY OFFICERS 

Members Councillors Payne and Parsons (so far) 

Officers experts and 
witnesses  

TBC 

Sponsoring officer Darren Knight, Executive Director of People and Change 

Facilitator Saira Malin, Democracy Officer 

Cabinet Member Corporate Services (Cllr Hegenbarth) 

FOR COMPLETION BY THE SCRUTINY TASK GROUP 

Are there any current 
issues with 
performance? 

 

Co-optees  

Other consultees  

Background 
information  

 

Suggested method of 
approach 

 

How will we involve 
the public/media? 
Or at what stages 

 

 

Page 17
Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny Committee work plan – 2019/20 and 2020/21 
 

Item Outcome 

 
 

What is 
required? 

 
 

Author/presenter 

Monday 7 September 2020 (deadline: 26 August) 

Air Quality 
responsibilities  

Understand which organisation is responsible for what 
issues (i.e. no idle zones outside of schools) and the 

committee can decide how and when it wants to look at 
specific issues in the future 

Discussion paper Gareth Jones 

Clearview  
Have a live demonstration of the Clearview system and 

understand how motions will be recorded / agree a 
process for monitoring motions going forward  

Live demo of 
system 

Democracy Officer 

O&S Review  
Agree the one page strategy (OPS) for the task group 

that the committee previously agreed should look at the 
recommendations 

DRAFT OPS  Democracy Officer 

Monday 2 November 2020 (deadline: 21 October) 

Quarter 2 performance 
review 

Consider quarter 2 performance and any issues Discussion paper 
Richard Gibson, Strategy and 

Engagement Manager 

Scrutiny annual report 
Consider the draft annual scrutiny report and approve 

for consideration by Council 
Report  Democracy Officer 

Monday 18 January 2021 (deadline: 6 January) 

Budget proposals (for 
coming year) 

Consider the views of the Budget Scrutiny Working 
Group on the budget proposals for 2021/22 

Verbal update 
Chair, Budget Scrutiny Working 

Group 

Marketing Cheltenham  
Data relating to return on investment (from a CBC 

standpoint) 
Discussion paper David Jackson 

Monday 8 March 2021 (deadline: 24 February) 

Draft Corporate Plan 
Consider the draft Corporate Plan and comment as 

necessary 
Discussion paper 

Richard Gibson, Strategy and 
Engagement Manager 

Monday 19 April 2021 (deadline: 7 April) 

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 10



Overview and Scrutiny Committee work plan – 2019/20 and 2020/21 

  

    

Monday 7 June 2021 (deadline: 26 May) 

End of year performance 
review 

Consider end of year performance and comment as 
necessary 

Discussion paper 
Richard Gibson, Strategy and 

Engagement Manager 

Monday 5 July 2021 (deadline: 23 June) 

UBICO annual report  
Consider annual report from Ubico – how are they 

performing? 
Discussion paper Ubico and Cabinet Member 

Monday 2 August 2021 (deadline: 21 July) 

    

P
age 20



Overview and Scrutiny Committee work plan – 2019/20 and 2020/21 
 
 

Items for future meetings (a date to be established) 

 
Gloucestershire 2050 

 
The Leader will provide ongoing updates as 

part of the Cabinet briefings 

 
Update 

 
The Leader 

Public Art Panel 
Consider what is it, is it effective, what has 

it done, what difficulties does it face 

To be 
scheduled 

once SWOT 
has been 
concluded 

(chased TC for 
date 25/02) 

Tracey Crews and Chair of 
Panel 

Climate Change 
Meet with the newly appointed Cabinet 

Member (do officers need to be there also) 
 Councillor tbc 

Solace process 
Understand the process for housing 
homeless people in Cheltenham and 
identify opportunities for improvement  

 
Officers and Cabinet Member 

Housing (Cllr Jeffries) 

Waiver(s) 

Consider recent instances where the O&S 
Chair has been asked to waive his right to 

call-in and the reasons behind these 
requests 

  

Air Quality / Schools 
Consider the impact of the school run on 

schools 
Discussion 

paper 
Gareth Jones and GCC 

officer(s) 

One Legal 

How are One Legal performing against 
their Service Level Agreement / what’s 

changed since we entered agreement (new 
clients, etc) 

Discussion 
paper 

Sarah Farooqi, One Legal 
(May 2021 meeting was 

cancelled) 

Retail environment post Covid? 
Follow-up on this issue after the last update 
in Feb 2020 (pre Covid) 

TBC TBC 

Holst Birthplace Museum  

Consider the £7.5k p/a grant given to the 
Holst Birthplace Museum  before it is due to 
expire in March 2021 / consider VfM before 

any decisions on the future of this grant 

Discussion 
paper 

Gill Morris, Cabinet Member 
Healthy Lifestyles and HBM 

Cheltenham Festival of 
Performing Arts  

Consider the £20k p/a grant given to 
Cheltenham Festival of Performing Arts  
before it is due to expire in March 2021 / 
consider VfM before any decisions on the 

Discussion 
paper 

Gill Morris, Cabinet Member 
Healthy Lifestyles and CFPA 

P
age 21



Overview and Scrutiny Committee work plan – 2019/20 and 2020/21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

future of this grant 

    

Annual Items 

Budget proposals (for coming year) January 
Chair, Budget Scrutiny 

Working Group 

Draft Corporate Plan February 
Richard Gibson, Strategy and 

Engagement Manager 

Publica annual report  tbc Dave Brooks (Chair) and MD 

End of year performance review June 
Richard Gibson, Strategy and 

Engagement Manager 

UBICO annual report  July  Ubico and Cabinet Member 

Scrutiny annual report  September  Democracy Officer 

Update on motions  September  Relevant Officer  

Police and Crime Commissioner (circulate his annual report in advance) September P&CC 

Quarter 2 performance review November 
Richard Gibson, Strategy and 

Engagement Manager 

P
age 22



Overview and Scrutiny Committee work plan – 2019/20 and 2020/21 
 

Briefing sessions/seminars  

Stagecoach 
A member seminar arranged at the request 

of the O&S Committee 
31 March 

2020 
CANCELLED 

CBH Masterplan 
A member seminar arranged at the request 

of the O&S Committee 
15 April 2020 CANCELLED 

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 25
Agenda Item 12

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	6 Air Quality / Schools
	8 scrutiny review task group - one page strategy
	10 Review of scrutiny workplan
	12 EXEMPT Minutes of the last meeting

